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Weaver-Fox House 3411 Uniontown Road 

The Weaver-Fox House al 3411 Uniontown Road was built bv Dr. Jacob J. Wenver. Jr .. in 
187:\-75 and is an exuberant specimen of rural Vic:torian-stvle architecture. Its nrchiteclurnl 
cletails. such ns tho hipped roof with or111=11ncntod c·u puln. cicnp r11of cornico with carvod 
brackets. moclillion hoods ovPr the dunrs nnd windows. wood s iclin~ lhot imitates stonework. 
irnd quoins nt lhe corners are fe<1turcs of the 11.ilinnnte s lvlc or the Victorian period. Other 
Victnrian-stvle ornnm1mtntion on the house. such ns the bav windows and elaboraltc! porch 
ifotails. aro cxcmplnrv formi. nf lhC' morf' tvpic.il r.harnr.terislir·s fnund in rural Vir:torian nr­
r.hitP-cluro in l.nrroll Counlv Tiu hislnricnl photogrnph shown above is important because ii 
displav~ the p.iinl color sr.homn that wns used to cnlrnnr:o the orn.1muntal fcRtures. Mnny 
\'ictorinn-style hom~os hnvr. lust this drnractcrislic hecausn of the modorn lcnduncy lo µnint n 
house or1u c:olor. 

The housu i'> listr:d un the Nnli1Jnnl Rogistur of llislnriC' Places lmcause of its superb ar­
d 1trrlurnl c:harnc:tnr. The rurrent uwm!r is Or. Grncu Fm ... 1 f!rnncldnughtcr of Dr. Jnc;ub J. 
Wn.1ver. Jr .. who lrns don 1ted .i rncade oasemu11t lo lhe l\1nryland Historical Trust that pro­
locts ii agnin!'I any nxlorior nllnralions that would destroy the ch<1rnetnr of lho building. The 
house is lo he given lo Western Maryl .ml C:ollPgc in Wcslminstur for the preservation or its 
period htPrior furnishings anrl docornt1ve arts collect10ns. 

DClrn iri Uniontown in 1848. Dr. Weaver graclu<1ted from the University of Maryland Medicnl 
School in 1870 and joined his fn lher in the practice of medicine al 3406 Uniontown Road. I le 
began the construction of Lhis house in 1874. with locAI craftsmen doin~ the erer.lion and or­
nnmentalion of 1he house as well as the graining of the interior woodwork and construction of 
Victorian-style furniture for the rooms. Or. Weaver continued lo practice medicinu until 1887. 
when he became engnged in the banking And businoss professions through associations with 
the Carroll County Savings Bank. the Carroll Countv Bank and Trust. the Birnie Trust Com­
pany. and the Mutual Fire Insurnnce Company. He also operated his own smnll farm outside 
of Uniontown. 

Or. Weaver's ledgers and doy-books are in the manuscript collection of the Historical Socie­
ty of Carroll County. They show that a country doctor during this period was frequently paid 
by goods. such as butter, corn. and shAd. or services. such as hauling of ma1erials and men­
ding of clothes. The costs of modical care during this lime are also of interest. especially from 
lod.1y's perspective. A visit from the doctor was 25C, unless it \I\ as a night visit when the role 
increased to $1.25. A plaster or a tooth extraction was 25C:. More serious matters, such as ex­
cising tonsils or attending to childbirth, were $5.00. 
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

The Weaver-Fox House is located at 3411 Main Street (Uniontown Road) , 
in the picturesque village of Uniontown, seven miles west of Westminster, 
in Carroll County, Maryland. The house is sited on a deep sloping lot 
that is approximately 67 feet wide and 321 feet deep. Between the house 
and the street are two large maple trees, part of the two rows of maples 
which line both sides of the main thoroughfare. Adjacent to the Weaver­
Fox House on the east side is a brick, one-story, late nineteenth 
century Lutheran church. On the opposite side is an ell-shaped, mid­
nineteenth century, two-story frame dwelling. 

The architectural styling of the Weaver-Fox House is that of a sim­
plified Victorian Italianate villa. Two stories high with a hipped 
roof, it has a tongue and groove board sheathed exterior with rusti­
cated quoins on all four corners, a deep overhanging roof cornice and, 
on the roof, two chimneys flanking a rectangular, hipped roof cupola. 

The five bay street facade is embellished with modillioned hoods 
over the door and windows, carved brackets decorating the roof cornice, 
and stylized arches and brackets on a full length, one-story porch. 
The centered entrance door and transom is framed by flat pilasters with 
stylized pseudo-consoles at their base. The large (floor to ceiling) 
first floor windows and the smaller windows of the second floor all have 
2/2 pane sash and louvered blinds. 

On the west end of the house, positioned north of center, is a two­
story, cantilevered bay window with brackets and flush molded panels. 
An absence of openings in the wall in the same area of the east end sug­
gests a similar treatment might have been planned but was never executed. 
The three remaining windows of the side elevations continue the treat­
ment of those of the facade except that the sash is of 4/4 panes. The 
cornice brackets of the facade, however, are not continued on the sides 
of the house. The ground level slopes down toward the rear of the 
house to give a full exposure to the brick-walled basement on the south 
elevation. A small, shuttered, 6/6 sash window at the basement level 
of each side elevation provides light and ventilation to the long summer 
kitchen occupying the rear (south) half of that level. 

Including the fully exposed basement, the rear elevation is three 
stories high. Centered on the wall is a two-story frame extension 
built to contain bathrooms. Supported by one-story iron posts, it is 
covered with later "German siding." Centered beneath this addition is 
the cellar entrance, flanked by two 6/6 sash windows. On the two floor 
levels above the basement are four windows with simple, unornnmented 
hoods, louvered blinds and 2/2 sash, two on each floor level flanking 
the bathroom wing. 

see continuation sheet #1 
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The weaver-Fox House is a fine example of Victorian village archi­
tecture made even more notable by a large quantity of original furnish­
ings and a location in a town still nineteenth century in appearance. 
Built during the years 1874 and 1875 as the home of Dr. Jacob J. Weaver, 
Jr., a country physician, the house was constructed in the style of the 
time and equipped with the most modern conveniences. It was furnished 
with pieces, also in the Victorian style, that were for the most part 
made by the many local cabinetmakers living in the area. Or. Weaver 
was a prominent man in Uniontown and the surrounding rural community 
and his house and its contents were a reflection of that position. 

Uniontown was founded during the first quarter of the nineteenth 
century and most of its buildings date from that period. It was quite 
a booming town at its beginning, its residents building a schoolhouse, 
two churches, and a Masonic Temple by 1825. A post office was establis~ed 
in 1813, and the town had its share of the necessary businesses, includ­
ing a tannery, blacksmith shop, tavern, and store. The rapid growth of 
the town in the early ninetheenth century was due to its location on th2 
National Pike (see Old National Pike Milestone National Register of 
Historic Places) leading from Baltimore to Cumberland which was then be­
coming increasingly traveled. 

The continuance of the economic boom of the fir$~ decades of the 
nineteenth century was prevented by two later occurrences. In 1835 and 
1836 plans were laid and executed for the formation of Carroll County 
from parts of Baltimore and Frederick Counties. It was hoped that Union­
town would become the seat of the new county, but Westminster was chosen 
instead due to its location more towards the center of the county. When 
the Western Maryland Railroad was constructed in the county in the 1850's, 
it passed through Westminster, causing the traffic through Uniontown to 
slacken considerably. The town never recovered its previous growth rate, 
but became instead the quiet center of activities in this part of Carroll 
County. Thus, Uniontown has visually remained a nineteenth century town 
with only a few new buildings dating from after 1900. It is the perfect 
setting for the display of a building such as the Weaver-Fox House, 
itself an integral part of this nineteenth century townscape. 

Dr. Jacob J. Weaver, Jr. was born in Uniontown in 1848. He attended 
Gettysburg College and then the University of Maryland medical school. He 

see continuation sheet fl 
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Description, continued 

The cupola crowning the tin sheathed roof is treated in a manner 
similar to the house. It is also of tongue and groove boards and has 
rusticated quoins, a hipped roof with finial, and brackets on the window 
hoods and eave cornice. 

The first floor room configuration (see attached plans) consists of 
a short, centered stair hall at the front of the house that is flanked 
by two equal-sized parlors with fireplaces. In the rear of the house is 
a large kitchen and a smaller library. On the first floor level of the 
rear extension is a sunroom and bath. 

On the second floor are four bedchambers, a small dressing room and, 
in the extension, a large bath. In the cellar there is a summer kitchen 
which extends its full width and half its depth on the south side. The 
north half of the cellar is divided into two commodious storage areas. 

In addition to the stair in the entrance hall, there is a secondary 
stair between the first floor kitchen and the second floor, a cellar 
stair beneath the kitchen stair, and a stair to the cupola at the head 
of the second floor hall. 

The woodwork throughout the house, including window and door sur­
rounds, is exceedingly simple in profile. Attempts at decoration are 
confined to the paneled stair closet and turned balusters, ornamental 
plaster ceiling medallions, hand-grained woodwork throughout, and wooden 
parlor mantels painted to simulate marble. 

One of the most interesting aspects of the Weaver-Fox House is that 
it contains most of its original furnishings, including lighting fix­
tures and Belgian carpets. Other notable features include bathrooms, 
among the first in the area, which retain their original porcelain 
fixtures and wainscoted walls. 

Significance, continued 
graduated from the latter in 1870 and began practicing medicine with his 
father in that year. Dr. J. J. Weaver, Sr. was an 1846 graduate of the 
University of Pennsylvania medical school who practiced in Uniontown 
from 1848 until 1880. 

In 1867, Dr. Weaver, Jr. married Mary Jones Haines of Forest Home, 
a property three and a half miles from Uniontown. The Weavers lived 
for a time with Dr. Weaver, Sr. in a large, white, board and batten 
house at what is now 3406 Main Street (Uniontown Road). Then in 1874, 

see continuation sheet #2 
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work was begun across the street on what is now known as the Weaver-Fox 
House at 3411 Uniontown Road. The work was done by local builders on 
the site. Shutters were made there and graining painted on the woodwork 
in the parlor, library, entrance hall, dining room, and master bedroom. 

Much of the furniture for the house, which was purchased in 1874 
and 1875 from skilled local craftsmen, still remains in it today. Some 
pieces were brought from the senior Weavers' home across the street in 
1899. Before electricity was installed in the house in 1917, it was 
lighted by coal oil lamps and chandeliers and candles. Iron and isinglass 
Latrobe stoves, now gone, were set in front of the fireplaces in the par­
lor and dining room to heat the house. A hot water boiler was used to 
heat the bathroom. 

Dr. Weaver, Jr. practiced medicine in Uniontown from 1870 until 1887. 
Poor health thereafter prevented him from continuing in this profession 
and he became a banker. He was President of the Carroll County Savings 
Institution in Uniontown, the Carroll County Bank and Trust Company in 
Westminster, and the Mutual Fire Insurance Company of Carroll County in 
Westminster. He also served as the Vice President of the Taneytown Bank 
and Trust Company. In addition to medicine and banking, Dr. Weaver 
engaged in farming on a small scale, owning several acres just outside 
Uniontown on which corn, wheat, and timothy were grown. 

Dr. Weaver, Jr. and his wife had only one child, Florence Eyster 
Weaver. She attended Miss Bond's School in Baltimore and the Luther­
ville Female Seminary in Baltimore County. In 1898 she married Edmund 
Kelly Fox in the parlor of the Weaver-Fox House. After their marriage, 
they lived in Washington, D.C., spending only the sununers in Uniontown. 

The Foxes had two daughters, Dr. Grace E. Fox, born in 1899, and 
Mary Weaver Fox (Mrs. Charles Raymond Whittlesey), born in 1901. Dr. 
Fox, a retired history professor fro~ Goucher College, is the present 
owner of the house, which she occupies only during the sununer months. 

Major Bihliographical References, continued 
Weaver, Dr. J. J. "History of Uniontown." The Carroll Record (Taneytown, 

Maryland), 1896. Copy in the files of the Maryland Historical Trust, 
Annapolis, Maryland. 
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Newspaper references from the February 20 and May 29, 1875, editions 
of the Democratic Advocate show that the Weaver-Fox House was built in 
1875 by Dr. J. J. Weaver. The articles describe the house as being of 
frame construction using Virginia yellow pine with the overall dimensions 
of 30 by 37 feet. The carpenters were B. H. Slonaker and Oliver Hiteshew; 
the mason was Copenhaver. 

Joe Getty 
Carroll County Department of Planning 

and Development 
December 1984 
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